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1. Name
historic Cedar Rapids Post Office and Public Building
and/or common Witwer Building
2. Location
9‘ "V\A‘ rg e"»
street & number 305 Seeend Avemse, S/E./ ___ not for publication
7

city, town Cedar Rapids ___ vicinity of congressional district 2
state Lowa _code 19 county Linn code 113
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
___ district _X_ public _X_ occupied ____ agriculture —__ museum
~X_building(s) ____ private ____ unoccupied ___ commercial ___ park
—— structure — both ____ work in progress ____ educational ___ private residence
— site Public Acquisition Accessible ____ entertainment — religious
——_ object N >in process _X_yes: restricted _X_government ____scientific

WV being considered ____ yes: unrestricted — industrial —_transportation

——_no military — other:

4. Owner of Property

name Linn County
street & number 930 Second Avenue, S.E.
city, town Cedar Rapids ___ vicinity of state Iowa

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Recorder's Office

street & number Linn County Courthouse

city, town Cedar Rapids state Towa

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

title NONE has this property been determined elegible? ____yes ____no

date _ federal ____state ___ county ____local

depository for survey records

city, town state




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one
—_excellent _ deteriorated — unaltered _X original site
X good —_ruins _* altered — moved date
_—fair ____ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Cedar Rapids Post Office and Federal Building occupies the corner of Second Avenue
and Third Street in the downtown commercial area. Constructed in 1895, this three-story
Renaissance Revival structure is one of only a few buildings erected in the late
nineteenth century still sZanding in downtown Cedar Rapids. Actuzlly, this building's
present appearance dates only from 1906. When completed in the late nineteenth century,
it was a Romanesque Revival edifice, complete with turrets, tower with pyramidal roof,
monochromatic brick work, and steeply pitched gable roof. 1In 1906, however, James

Knox Tavlor, supervising architect of tie United States Treasury, cevelcped a plan
whersby the building was enlerged, a third story wes addesd, and thoroughly remoceled in
such a way that it appearacd to be almost an entirely new structure.

In typical Renaissance Revival fashion, the building is divided intc base, bcdy, ard
crown. The edifice's partiaily raised basement and first floor ccnstituce its base
and culminates in a stone sntablature at the btese of Tthe sscond story. Brownish-
colored tooled stone is utilized arcud apgprerimately one-third of the tase wnile the
remainder is sheathed in smooth dressed rusticated stonework of a lighter color.
Windeows in this section, mwost of which heve besen filled in, have rectangular stone
openings while the main entrance on the north sice of the building is merked oy a
highly decorative, stone Zrimmec archway. The brick sheathed second story corcrises
the body of the building. This pcertion is =zet off from the cthers by continuous

stone bands; one-over-one wood sash windows with trensors set in flat arched orick
surrounds; strateoically nlaced Coudble windows set in arched brick surrounds and
fea-uring stone trim end balustrades; anc a continuous moldeC brick belt course at the
base of the third story. The third story crown has a wiGe veriety of decorative
features including six-cver-one wood sesh windows set in rectengulaer surrounds with
stone labels; stone trimmed deccrative panels with georetric wotiffs; a frieze sneathed
in carved stone panels and featuring vairs of elaborately carved wooden brackets; a
highly decoretive metal cornice; and a bell cast mansarc roci pierced on its north
side by a single cebled dermer and on its east sicde by three similar ones.

Inside, the building contairs neerly ons muncrec rooms enc. offices. Although this
structure hes not been used as federel offices for well over forty years, meny vestiges
of its original occupant remein, including doors with terms "United States Court Room"
and "United States Judge Private." Other origingl features include ornate carvings,
decorative grill wor}\cj marble flooring, decorative wood moldings, and elaborate door-
ways.

Al

Presently, the buildinglémdergoing rercbilitetion with the interition of returning it
to its 1905 condition. According to & spokesman Zor the county,
"A time-oriented plan is in place to restore the Witwer Building's exterior
to its 1906 appezrence. Tne Witwer Building has served as the hub for the
city bus nebtwork cue to its central lccatior in downtown CecCar Repics with

a bus ticket office anc wziting aree ebutting the Witwer Building on the Thirc
Street side. With the comleticn of the Grourd Transportation Center in 1983,
the city buses will converge at the Transportation Center rather than the
Witwer Building. Buses stopping downtown will be served at the Merchants
National Bank Building which is across the street from the Witwer Building.
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Since the buses will no longer be converging at the Witwer Building in 1983,
the bus ticket office and waiting area on the Third Street side will be removed
and the original entrance to the building (which is on the Third Street side)
will be re-opened. This restoration project will be continued to all sides

of the building with the exterior being returned to its 1906 appearance. The
ramp for the handicapped on the Second Avenue side will be modified to blend
with the restored exterior. :

Secondly, a restoration - rehabilitation plan for the building has been developed
by Linn County. As stated in the application submitted in October, 1980, Limn
County is in the process of restoring the interior of the Witwer Building. The
Building Analysis and Feasibility Study of the Witwer Building (1980) included
recommendations for rehabilitation work to be done on the building. Phase I
which included repairing the roof, painting the fascia and soffitt, repairing
and painting the dormers, and repairing the flashings and caulking was completed
in 1980. Phase II includes the installation of a new automatic elevator, main-
tenance work on exterior windows and light core windows, exit modification as
required by the fire marshall, and emergency and exit lighting; these tasks are
scheduled to be completed in the summer of 1981. Phase III includes the re-
maining electrical work, new plumbing fixtures and water piping, insulation in
the roof, and the construction of a second exit (on the back of the building).
The timetable for Phase IIT would begin in July, 1981, with completion by June
of 1982. Phase IV includes HVAC systems for the basement, part of the second
and all of the third floor; work would begin in July, 1982, and be completed

by June, 1983. Funding for Phases I and IT has come from Limn County Health
Center which is the landlord for Sharing monies (which have been designated)

and Phase IV costs are projected to be covered by the annual $80,000 payment
Linn County will receive from the Weaver Witwer Trust.

Linn County support for the Witwer Building restoration has been evidenced by
commissioning the Building Analysis and Feasibility Study as well as imple-
menting and financing the various phases.




8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

— prehistoric ____ archeology-prehistoric ____ community planning ____ landscape architecture____ religion

__1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic ____conservation — law ____science

— 1500-1599 ____ agriculture ____economics ___ literature ___sculpture

___1600-1699 ____ architecture — education — military —__social/

. 1700-1799 ___ art - engineering ____ music humanitarian

X 1800-1899 _ X commerce ____ exploration/settlement ___ philosophy _ theater

¥ 1900~ —_ communications — industry <o X politics/government ____ transportation
: ____invention Ca Lo o _ other (specify)

Specific dates 1395 _ present Builder/Architect james Knox Taylor (1906 remodeling)

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

Between 1895 and 1933, the 0ld Cedar Rapids Post Office and Federal Building served
as a focal point for the activities of the national govermment in that city and the
area surrounding it. To a degree, it symbolizes the expanding role of the federal
government as well. The extensive remodeling and enlargement that took place in 1906
during Theodore Roosevelt's presidency closely coincides with the expansion in
federal power that he had set in motion on assuming the nation's highest office in
1901. By 1933, however, this building too had become too small for the purposes of
the national government, and a new edifice was completed on May's Island. ‘

The site occupied by this structure has an interesting and colorful history. Origi-
nally, the property belonged to Alexander L. Ely, at whose death a legal battle deve-
loped among his heirs over control of the property. Eventually John L. Schearer
acquired it, and he in turn transferred it to the First New Order Presbyterian Church
for one dollar. In 1850 the congregation built the first church in Cedar Rapids on
this site with a $75 loan and a $500 mortgage. This stucco and grout walled edifice
became known as "Little Muddy'" because of its dark walls and was utilized for worship
services until a fire gutted it in 1871. Later that same year, the congregation sold
the ruined building and land to one of Ely's descendants and moved to its present
location at 310 Fifth Street, southeast.

In 1895 the federal govermment built a new Post Office and Federal Building on the
corner of what was then known as Eagle and Adams Streets. Constructed at a cost of
$100,000, the Romanesque Revival edifice, designed by the supervising architect of
the treasury, was said to have every modern convenience, including the best and most
economical steam heat available. When completed in 1897, the post office, U.S.
District Court, and most local federal agencies had their offices there. At that
time the facility served a population of 27,555.

In the early twentieth century, however, Cedar Rapids 'underwent. significant growth,
putting strain on the facilities in the Post Office and Federal Building. In 1906,
the building was enlarged and thoroughly remodeled at a cost of around $215,000.

Under the direction of James Knox Taylor, the Supervising Architect of the United
States Treasury, the building was remade into a structure resembling the Renaissance
Revival style. This struciure continued to be utilized by federal agencies until the
new Post Office anc Fecderal Building was completad on May's Island in 1933. 1In 1936
Wigaver Witwer purchased the building and used it for his Witwer Grocery Company and
office rentals until 1967. In that year Witwer leased the structure to Limn County
for office space. After his death in 19879, Linn County acquired the building outright.



9. Major Bibliographical References

See Attached Continuation Sheet

10. Geographical Data
Acreage of nominated property _less than 1 acre

Quadrangle name _Cedar Rapids, lowa Quadrangle scale 7.5
UMT References
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Verbal boundary description and justification ~
Lots 1 and 2, Block 25 and the south easterly ten feet of Lot 3, Block 25,

original town, now City of Cedar Rapids, Linn County, lowa

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state N.A. code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

namettitle Ralph J. Christian _ aArchitectural Historian

organization (Office of Historic Preservation date  September 1982
street & number East 12th and Grand ‘Avenue telephone 515/281-6825 -
city or town Des Moines state Iowa

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

- national ____state __ X local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer fof the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89~
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the %‘le itage Conservation ghd Recreation Service.

-~

State Historic Preservation Officer signature

VI" = / A

title Director, State Historical Department date September 29, 1982

GPO 938 835
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Cedar Rapids Evening Gazette, August 14, 1906; August 19, 1907, March 28, 1908.

Cedar Rapids Gazette, July 12, 1970.

John Brandt to Ralph Christian, March 13, 1981, Division of Historic Preservation
Files.

Olson, Popa, Novak, Architects, P.C., Building Analysis and Feasibility Study of the
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P.C., 1980).
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DEC 15 o83

date entered

received

1. Name

rublic

historic Cedar Rapids Post Office and Federzt Building

andor common Witwer Building

2. Location

street & number 305 Second Avenue S. E.

— not for publication

city, town Qe dar Rapids ___ vicinity of
state lowa code 019 county Linn code 113
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
____ district XX __ public _XX occupied ____ agriculture —__ museum
XX_ building(s) ___ private —__ unoccupied —_ commercial ___ park
____ structure ____both ____work in progress _ educational ____ private residence
—_ site Public Acquisition Accessible —___ entertainment ___ religious
____ object _in process yes: restricted _XX government —__ scientific
____ being considered XX _ yes: unrestricted — industrial —transportation
N/A ____no ___ military ____other:
4. Owner of Property
name Linn County Board of Supervisors
street & number 930 Seccnd Avenue S. E.
city, town Cedar Rapids ___ vicinity of state 1ova
5. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Counity Clerk's Office
street & number Linn County Courthouse
city, town Cedar Rapids state lowa
6. Representation in Existing Surveys
title N/A has this property been determined eligible? ____yes ___ no
date —federal ___ state ___county ___local
depository for survey records
state

city, town




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

____excellent __ deteriorated ____ unaltered XX original site

XX gobd! -~ __ ruins XX _ altered ___moved date _
__ fair ____unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The former Cedar Rapids Post Office and Federal Building (1908) is a fine example of the
Renaissance Revival style, executed for a public building. The 1908 building, replaced a
poorly built predecessor which was erected in 1892 and provided additional space for
growing governmental operations.

In typical Renaissance Revival fashion, the building (94' by 112" is divided into base,
body,and crown. The edifice's partially raised basement and first floor constitute its
base and culminates in a stone entablature at the base of the second story. Brownish-
colored tooled stone is utilized around approximately one-third of the base while the
remainder is sheathed in smoothe dressed rusticated stonework of a lighter color.
Windows in this section, most of which have been filled in, have rectangular stone
openings while the main entrance on the north side of the building is marked by a highly
decorative, stone trimmed archway. The brick sheathed second story comprises the body
of the building. This portion is set off from the others by continuous stone bands; one-
over-one wood sash windows with transoms set in flat arched brick surrounds;
strategically placed double windows set in arched brick surrounds and featuring stone
trim and balustrades; and a continuous molded brick belt course at the base of the third
story. THe third story crown has a wide variety of decorative features including six-
over-one wood sash windows set in rectangular surrounds with stone labels; stone
trimmed decorative panels with geometric motiffs; a frieze sheathed in carved stone
panels and featuring metal cornices; and a bell cast mansard roof pierced on its north
side by a single gabled dormer and on its east side by three similar ones.

Inside, the building contains nearly one hundred rooms and offices. Although this building
has not been used as federal offices for well over forty years, many vestiges of its
original occupant remain, including doors with terms "United States Court Room" and
"United States Judge, Private.! Other original features include ornate carvings,
decorative grill wrk, marble flooring, decorative wood moldings, and elaborate doorways.

Presently, the building is undergoing rehabilitation with the intention of returning it to
its 1908 condition. The building served as the hub for the city bus network because of its
central location downtown, with a ticket office and waiting room adjoining on the Third
Street side. The completion of the new Ground Transportation Center this year will
eliminate that role, but a major downtown bus stop will be located across the street from
this building. The bus service additions will be removed and the original Third Street
entrance will be re-opened and restored. The handicapped access ramp on the Second
Avenue side will be modified so as to blend with the restored exterior. The
restoration/rehabilitation plan has been developed by Linn County. The County in
restoring the interior. A 1980 building Analysis and Feasibility Study for the Witwer
building recommended roof repair, fascia and soffit painting, dormer repair and
repainting, flashing repair and caulking as as elements of phase one. Phase two will
include the installation of a new automatic elevator, exterior window and light core
maintenance work, fire code exit modifications, and emergency exit lighting. Both
phases were completed in mid 1981. Subsequently HVAC systems were put in the
basement, and other floors. Funding for this work came from Linn County Health Center
and the Weaver Witwer Trust.



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

_.__ prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric . _ community planning __ _ landscape architecture ___ religion

_____ 1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic ... conservation e law . science

_.1500-1599 ____ agriculture -.._ economics __... literature - sculpture

__1600-1699 _XX architecture __._education ___ military —___ social/

~—_1700-1799 ____art ... engineering —.__ music humanitarian

___1800-1899 ____ commerce - exploration/settiement ____ philosophy —_ theater

_XX 1900— ____ communications e industry - politics/government ___ transportation
... invention - other (specity)

Specific dates 1908

R o “James Knox Taylor, Architect
Builder/Architect  Mr. McAlpin, Cont factor.

Statempnt ﬂgd%?'%%?gf Pt RTca% AN ederal Building (1908) is an elaborate example of the
Renaissance Revival style in downtown Cedar Rapids. The present building attests to the
faulty construction of its predecessor, and to the expanding needs for office space on the
part of the federal government on the local level.

The first federal building was designed in the Romanesque Revival style and included in
its plan s six story square corner tower which ultimately proved its undoing. The building
was begun in late 1892 and occupied in late January 1895. Just three months later, the
local paper noted "The stone wall under the tower of the goverment building has parted,
and the first four layers of brick are cracked. This is due to the settling of the
foundation into the sand. These signs of settling were apparent even before the building
was finished. In November, 1895 the same source noted "The job was a botched one
throughout. Much of the finishing work had to be done over and now it is found that the
building is faulty at the foundtion, something that cannot be easily rectified."

The Post Office rapidly outgrew the new building and a request for funding for an
addition was made as early as February 1904, By October, 1906, a $200,000.
appropriation for a new post office and federal building had been made, and the plans
were complete by August 1907. These plans envisioned thorough remodeling of the
existing building with a 35' addition to the east side, and the addition of a third story.
The plans further stated "...the old part will be refaced in order to give the building a
uniform appearance." The target completion date was to be November 1, 1909. The plan
did not change the existing entrance points, provided much more post office space on the
first floor, provided for the federal courts on the second floor, and the third floor for the
railway mail service. The exterior of the third floor was to be pebble dashed. When
smaller than anticipated bids were received, the plans were modified in November 1907
to execute the entire first floor in stone "...while chances are very good that the entire
exterior will be of stone." In addition "...not a vestige of the present exterior will be left
and when the bulding has been finished no one will be able to recognize in it any of the
features of the present building. It will be one of the finest and most magnificent
government structures in the west, or in any city in the United States the size of Cedar
Rapids."” The final plans revision announced in December 1907 envisioned a building that
would "be by far the handsomest and most imposing structure in the city..." The
foundation was to be of Kasota stone, the first floor exterior of Bedford Indiana
limestone, the remaining stories of light red brick with wide mortar joints, and a tile
green or red roof. A three and a half foot marble frieze would be just beneath the
eaves. The contract price was $135,000. Mr. McAlpin of Elgin lllinois was the
contractor and was locally well known for his other jobs. "Nothing will be left of the
present building except the foundation walls and a few of the interior partitions, the
greater portions of these giving way because of the rearrangement of the interior of the
building." The new building would provide double the interior space.

Demolition of the old building began in March 1908. On April 8 of that year the local

newspaper reported "The old building has been pretty well demolished, and in a few more
days will witness the last of it gone." New excavations made for the new building at that
time strongly imply that even the foundation walls were removed and rebuilt further out.



9. Major Bibliographical References

Refer to continuation sheet.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property less than one acre

Quadrangle name _Cedar Rapids—South

UTM References
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Verbal boundary description and justification

Lots 1 and 2, Block &5, and the southeasterly ten feet of Lot 3, Block 5, original
town, City of Cedar Rapids.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

N
state /A code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

name/title jages E. Jacobsen, National Register Coordinator

organizatioﬁ Towa SHPO date 6 December 1983
Historical Bldg.

street & number E. 12th & Grand Ave. telephone 515-281-8152

city or town Des Moines state Iowa 50319

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is: .

____ national ____state __XXocal

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Regist7 certify that it has been evaluated

according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Servige.
State Historic Preservation Officer signature X N @ ,/Z g 227
77 7

7 (
date (5 O@’Cc’%«/é’v / 98

title pyocutive Director Towa State Histcrical DNonartment

For NPS use only
| hereby certify that this property is included in the National Register

W Erocern— aste _ui/oo/3
/‘f(/ Keeper of the National Register | /S /

Attest: date
Chief of Registration

GPO 804-788
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Construction was delayed due to non-arrival of materials in July, and the final
completion date was extended to January 1910, due to the severity of the winter of 1909-
10 which hindered exterior work. The roof was tiled in February 1909. Three vaults
were constructed on the first floor for the post office. A forty by sixty four foot
courtroom dominated the second floor,and featured five foot by two foot decorative
cornices with a paneled ceiling. The ceiling of the courtroom extended four feet
abovethe third floor level. On the third floor above, a dormitory was provided to house
railway mail clerks who laid over in town between their runs. By November 1909 the
extensive interior work was well underway. The building featured an elevator and Van
Kennal revolving doors. The building was inspected by the U.S. building inspector in
early January 1910 and was turned over to the local postmaster for occupancy. The
postal department, using temporary lighting and heating systems and its old furniture
occupied the first floor by mid-January 1910. The building was fully utilized by all of its
occupants by March of that year.

The building continued to be used by federal agencies until the new post office and
federal building was completed on May's Island in the center of the city in 1933. In 1936
Weaver Witwer purchased the building and used it for his Witwer Grocery Company and
office rentals until 1967. In that same year Witwer leased the building to Linn County
for office space. After Witwer's death in 1979, Linn County acquired the building
outright.

James Knox Taylor, supervising architect, United States Treasury Departmert,
directed the remcdeling of the building in 1908.
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February 24, 1893, pp. 1, 4, and 8 November 19 1967 .p 6
zar?? f, 1233, p. 5 December 9, 1907, p. 9
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